IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL KNIGHT,

Petitioner,

v. CASE NO. SC00-1987

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

G. KAY WITT, ESQ.
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 0145009

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Eighth Judicial Circuit, in and for Alachua County, Florida, where he was convicted of the offense of armed robbery. Petitioner was the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to in this brief as Petitioner or as Michael Knight. Respondent was the prosecution and Appellee in the lower courts, and will be referred to as State or Respondent.

The record on appeal consists of three volumes. Citations to Volume I, containing copies of the pleadings and orders filed in this cause shall be by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number[s] in parentheses. Citations to consecutively numbered Volumes II and III, containing the trial and sentencing transcripts, shall be by the letter "T" followed by the Volume number and the appropriate page number[s] in parentheses. The

March 27, 2000, opinion of the First District Court, and its August 22, 2000, opinion granting rehearing and certification, are attached as an appendix and will be referred to as "App."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Michael Knight, was charged by information with armed robbery in Count I, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon in Count II (R: 7-8). The case proceeded to jury trial on Count I only, and Knight was found guilty of robbery with a firearm as charged (T: II-119, R 138).

Prior to trial, the State filed notice of intent to have Knight sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender (R: 9). Knight filed a motion to dismiss the notice of intent to sentence him pursuant to the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), on grounds that the statute was unconstitutional, and that it was inapplicable in his case because he was not charged with an offense enumerated in the Act (R: 14-31). The motion was denied (T: III-131). The trial judge found that Knight satisfied the requirements of the Prisoner Releasee Reoffender Act and over defense objection sentenced him to life in prison with no possibility of parole (R: 163-167, T: III-133-134).

On direct appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, Petitioner's conviction and sentence were affirmed in an opinion dated March 27, 2000, certifying a question of great public importance regarding the constitutionality of the prison releasee reoffender statute (App.). On March 29, 2000, Petitioner filed a motion for rehearing and certification of a second question of

great public importance, and the State filed a motion to stay the mandate in this case pending a decision by this Court in **Woods v.**State, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla.1st DCA 1999). On May 30, 2000, the First District Court granted the State's motion to stay the mandate, and denied Petitioner's motion for rehearing and certification without prejudice to file again within 15 days of the opinion of this Court in **Woods**. On June 15, 2000, Petitioner again filed for rehearing, asking that the First District certify a question of great public importance not addressed by this Court in **Woods**, regarding ambiguity in the sentencing provisions of the prison releasee reoffender statute.

In its opinion dated August 22, 2000, the First District Court granted Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing and Certification of a Question of Great Public Importance only to the extent that it added the following certified question to its previously issued opinion of March 27, 2000:

DOES SECTION 775.082(9)(A)3A, FLORIDA STATUTES (1999), WHICH MANDATES A LIFE SENTENCE FOR PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDERS WHO COMMIT "A FELONY PUNISHABLE BY LIFE," APPLY BOTH TO LIFE FELONIES AND FIRST DEGREE FELONIES PUNISHABLE BY IMPRISONMENT FOR A TERM OF YEARS NOT EXCEEDING LIFE?

(App.).

Notice of intent to seek discretionary review was filed by Petitioner on September 21, 2000. On January 10, 2001, this court issued an order postponing decision on jurisdiction and briefing

schedule, ordering Petitioner to file his initial brief on the merits on or before February 5, 2001; upon Petitioner's motion, the time for filing the initial brief was extended until February 20, 2001. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Cornice Baskerville testified that on August 23, 1998, she was employed as a clerk for the Payless Shoe Store on Northwest 13th Street. On that date, she was working at the store when a black male came in and asked where the kids shoes were located. About twenty minutes later he approached the register with six to eight pairs of shoes and some socks. Ms. Baskerville rang up the items. When she told him the total was \$190.19, the man turned around and pointed a gun at her and at the other customers in the store, and told them this was a robbery. He then told Ms. Baskerville to give him the money from the register and the safe. She complied and gave him the change in a green bag and all the cash and checks from the safe; she estimated that the total amount was two thousand dollars. She said she got a good look at him because he was only standing about three feet from her, and because the lighting in the store that day was very bright (T: II-29-32). Ms. Baskerville made an in-court identification of Mr. Knight (T: II-33); she had previously identified him through a photo lineup (T: 21-22). identified State's Exhibit "B" as the gun he had used (T: II-36).

Ingrid Dettemyer, the assistant manager at the Payless store on August 23, 1998, testified that when she came back from her lunch break she saw Ms. Baskerville handing the bank bags to "the defendant;" however, the record does not reflect that the witness ever identified Michael Knight as the person to whom she referred.

Ms. Dettemyer went to the back of the store and called the police when she realized what was happening (T: II-38-39).

Several other witnesses testified that they had been shopping in the store that day and they identified Petitioner as the person they had seen taking the money from Ms. Baskerville at gunpoint (T: II-39-47).

Guerian Fort was shopping in the Payless store with his kids. He testified that he saw a black male with a gun "hold up" the clerk and then get into a blue van with another person; Mr. Fort followed the van in his pickup truck and used his camcorder to record the van and the two occupants. Fort could not positively identify Petitioner as the black male he had seen leaving the store and getting into the van (T: II-49-54).

Officer John Nabet with the Gainesville Police Department testified that he received a call concerning the Payless store, and then learned that the robbery suspect had been seen getting into a blue van. He followed the van and saw it roll into a fence and stop; just before the van stopped, he saw a white male running from it (T: II-25-26).

Brett Starr, a crime scene investigator with the Gainesville Police Department, investigated the van as a "secondary crime scene" and inside he found plastic Payless store bags containing boxes of shoes and packages of socks; a handgun was found on the driver's seat (T: II-57-60). On cross-examination, Starr testified

that the gun "had black electrical tape all over it." When he removed the tape, the slide fell off and both the spring and the firing pin were missing. Starr said as far as he was concerned the gun "wouldn't function as a firearm" (T: II-63-64). Starr testified that he lifted latent fingerprints from the exterior of the van and from items found in the van; he also took fingerprints from shoe boxes on the counter inside the Payless store (T: II-57-62).

Melissa Kilmer, a latent fingerprint examiner for the Gainesville Police Department, was offered as a expert and testified that twenty of the latent fingerprints lifted from the van and the store by Mr. Starr matched the known fingerprints of Michael Knight (T: II-67-69).

Officer Nabet was recalled to the stand. He testified that he was a certified firearms instructor, and he was offered as a firearms expert. He testified that in his opinion the gun found in the van was a firearm, and that it was "readily convertible into an object that [would] expel a projectile" (T: II-71-72). On cross-examination he admitted that the gun could not function as a firearm without a firing pin, and while the slide was taped to the rest of the gun. On re-direct, he testified that the gun would fire a projectile if someone first removed the tape, then installed a firing pin, and then placed a bullet in it. On re-cross, he again admitted that without a firing pin, the gun could not be used to fire a projectile (T: II-73-74).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner was convicted of robbery with a firearm, a felony of the first degree punishable by a term of years not exceeding life. Petitioner was sentenced to life in prison under the prison releasee reoffender act. § 775.082, Fla. Stat. (1997). Under the Act, the penalty for commission of a first degree felony is 30 years, whereas, the penalty for commission of a "felony punishable by life," is life. There is no specific sentencing provision for a conviction for a first degree felony punishable by a term of years not exceeding life. Petitioner argues that the term "first degree felony" encompasses first degree felonies punishable by life, and therefore, under the sentencing provisions of the prison releasee reoffender act his sentence should have been 30 years.

Petitioner further argues that the prison releasee reoffender act is ambiguous in regard to first degree felonies punishable by life, as it separately provides that any offense "punishable by life" requires a life sentence, while at the same time, it provides that a felony of the first degree requires a 30 year sentence. The ambiguity is that Petitioner's offense falls under both definitions. It is punishable by life, but it is also a felony of the first degree. Thus, the statute presents two possibilities, and under the rule of lenity, Petitioner's sentence must be limited to the lesser of the two, 30 years in prison. § 775.021(1) Fla. Stat. (1999).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

IN LIGHT OF BURDICK V. STATE, 1 HOLDING THAT A SEPARATE STATUTORY CATEGORY OF FIRST DEGREE FELONY PUNISHABLE BY LIFE IS NOT RECOGNIZED IN FLORIDA LAW, THE TERM "FELONY PUNISHABLE BY AS USED ΙN THEPRISON REOFFENDER ACT DOES NOT UNAMBIGUOUSLY REQUIRE A LIFE SENTENCE FOR A FIRST DEGREE FELONY PUNISHABLE BY LIFE WHEN THE ACT SEPARATELY PROVIDES A SENTENCE OF 30 YEARS FOR THE STATUTORY CATEGORY OF FIRST DEGREE FELONY.

Petitioner was convicted of robbery with a firearm, which is a first degree felony punishable by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life. \$ 812.13, Fla. Stat. (1997). The trial court sentenced Petitioner to life in prison under section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1997), the prison releasee reoffender act (T: III-133-134). The prison releasee reoffender act clearly delineates the penalty for commission of a first degree felony as 30 years. \$ 775.082(8)(a)2.b., Fla. Stat. (1997); it also provides a penalty of life in prison for commission of a "felony punishable by life." \$ 775.082 (8)(a)2.a., Fla. Stat. (1997). However, there is no specific sentencing provision in the prison releasee reoffender act for a conviction for a first degree felony punishable by a term of years not exceeding life. On appeal, the First District affirmed the sentence imposed by the trial court, finding that the prison releasee reoffender act requires a life sentence for robbery with

¹594 So.2d 267 (Fla.1992).

a firearm (App.).² Conversely, Petitioner contends that because the term "first degree felony" encompasses first degree felonies punishable by life, his sentence under the prison releasee reoffender act should have been 30 years, not life. A "first degree felony punishable by life is not a "life felony." § 775.082(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997). Robinson v. State, 642 So.2d 644 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); Green v. State, 630 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Crabtree v. State, 624 So.2d 743 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); rev. denied, 634 So.2d 623 (Fla.1994); Sterling v. State, 584 So.2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. denied, 592 So.2d 682 (1991).

Petitioner further contends that the prison releasee reoffender act is ambiguous in regard to first degree felonies punishable by life. It separately provides that any offense "punishable by life" requires a life sentence. § 775.082(8)(a)2.a., Fla. Stat. (1997), but it also provides that a felony of the first degree requires a 30 year sentence. § 775.082(8)(a)2.b., Fla. Stat. (1997). The ambiguity is that Petitioner's offense falls under both definitions. It is punishable by life, but it is also a

²The First District did not recede from this finding when it granted Petitioner's motion for rehearing and certification, however, the court added the following certified question to its previously issued opinion:

DOES SECTION 775.082(9)(A)(3A), FLORIDA STATUTES (1999), WHICH MANDATES A LIFE SENTENCE FOR PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDERS WHO COMMIT "A FELONY PUNISHABLE BY LIFE,"APPLY BOTH TO LIFE FELONIES AND FIRST DEGREE FELONIES PUNISHABLE BY IMPRISONMENT FOR A TERM OF YEARS NOT EXCEEDING LIFE?

felony of the first degree. Thus, the statute presents two possibilities, and under the rule of lenity, Petitioner's sentence must be limited to the lesser of the two, 30 years in prison. § 775.021(1) Fla. Stat. (1999) ("when the language [of a statute] is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused."). The issue here is one of statutory construction and judicial interpretation of a Florida statute, and as such is properly subject to review de novo by this Court. Racetrac Petroleum, Inc. V. Delco Oil, Inc., 721 So.2d 376, 377 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) ("[J]udicial interpretation of Florida statutes is a purely legal matter and therefore subject to de novo review. [citations omitted]").

Petitioner's argument that his sentence under the prison releasee reoffender act should have been 30 years is further strengthened by the opinion of this Court in Burdick v. State, 594 So.2d 267 (Fla.1992), which held that every felony classified as first degree remains in that statutory category, even if legislatively denominated as a first degree felony punishable by life. In Burdick, the appellant argued that "in terms of penal policy, there is no difference between a first-degree felony punishable by life imprisonment and a life felony." This Court disagreed, saying, "The legislature has created five categories of felonies: capitol felony; life felony; felony of the first degree; felony of the second degree; and felony of the third degree. §

775.081(1), Fla. Stat. (1989). There is no separate classification for first-degree felonies punishable by life imprisonment." (emphasis added). Id. at 268. In a footnote, this Court further explained, "We use the terms 'punishable by life,' 'punishable by life imprisonment,' and 'punishable by a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment,' synonymously, as distinguished from a 'life felony.'" Id. at 268, note 5.

Additionally, it is a well established principle of statutory construction that the legislature is presumed to know the judicial constructions of a law when enacting a new version or amendment to that law. Brannon v. Tampa Tribune, 711 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (citing Collins Investment Co. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 164 So.2d 806 (Fla.1964). Furthermore, the legislature is presumed to have adopted prior judicial constructions of a law unless a contrary intention is expressed in the new version. Brannon v. Tampa Tribune, 711 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (citing Deltona Corp. v. Kipnis, 194 So.2d 295 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966). Therefore, in the present case, the legislature should be presumed to have adopted the established judicial construction that the term "first degree felony" includes "first degree felonies punishable by a term of years not exceeding life." Burdick, 594 So.2d at 268-269 (a first degree felony remains in that statutory classification, "regardless of the sentence imposed by the substantive law prohibiting the conduct.") (emphasis added). This logically leads to

the conclusion that the term "felony punishable by life," as used in section 775.082(8)(a)2.a., refers to "life felonies," and means something other than "first degree felonies punishable by life." If the legislature did not intend this construction, it would have used the term "first degree felonies punishable by life," in section 775.082(8)(a)2.a., Florida Statutes, the prison releasee reoffender act.³

The First District, in ruling that Petitioner was not entitled to relief here, relied upon its earlier decision in **Brown v.**State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2753 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 8, 1999). In that case, the appellant challenged his life sentence for armed burglary, a first degree felony punishable by life, asserting that the maximum sentence he could have received under section 775.082(8) was 30 years. The appellant relied on **Burdick**, in which this Court stated that "first degree felonies punishable by life were first degree felonies regardless of the sentence imposed (life or a term of years). **Id.** at 268-69." **Brown**, 24 Fla. L. Weekly

³It should also be noted that, within this same statute, the legislature set forth language in which it distinguished between life sentences and sentences of imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life. Section 775.082(3)(a)3., Florida Statutes, provides that the penalty for a Life felony committed on or after July 1, 1995, is "a term of imprisonment for life or by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life." (emphasis added).

D2753.4 The First District stated in **Brown** that it was not persuaded by the appellant's "analogy" to the habitual offender statute, which at one point did not include an enhancement for life felonies," as discussed in Burdick, and held that the statute at issue here, section 775.082(8)(a)(2)(a), "unambiguously includes both life felonies and first degree felonies punishable by life." Brown, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2753. In so ruling, it appears that the lower court ignored the holding of Burdick that, "There is no separate classification for first-degree felonies punishable by life imprisonment." Burdick, 594 So.2d at 268. Only by ignoring that holding could the district court possibly say that there is no ambiguity present where a statute provides that an offense is both punishable by life and a first degree felony. Burdick makes patent the ambiguity, since the statute at issue refers to two separate categories: one category, a felony punishable by life, which admittedly allows a life sentence, and another statutory category

⁴The Fifth District in *State v. Newmones*, 765 So.2d 860 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), has also held that the prison releasee reoffender act mandates a life sentence for robbery with a firearm, "considering that the crime is a 'felony punishable by life.'" *Id.* at 861, citing to the opinions of the First District in this case, *Knight v. State*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D828 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 27, 2000), and *Brown v. State*, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2753 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 8, 1999).

Additionally, the issue of the penalty under the prison releasee reoffender act for first degree felonies punishable by a term of years not exceeding life is currently before this Court in *Michael Brown v. State*, SC99-102, and *Erron Bing v. State*, SC00-151.

referring to felonies of the first degree, which limits the sentence to 30 years. The latter construction is entirely consistent with *Burdick*, which does not recognize a separate category of first degree felony punishable by life. Thus, under the prison releasee reoffender act, the choices are limited to life felonies and first degree felonies, nothing in between. The statutory ambiguity cannot be denied. When the wording of a statute is ambiguous, it must be construed in the manner most favorable to the accused. *Perkins v. State*, 576 So.2d 1310, 1312 (Fla.1991); *Lamont v. State*, 610 So.2d 435 (Fla.1992).

This Court should therefore find that the penalty provisions of section 775.082(8) are ambiguous with regard to first degree felonies punishable by life in that they present two conflicting possibilities: an offense "punishable by life" requires a life sentence, while a felony of the first degree requires a 30 year sentence. Thus, applying the rule of statutory construction where any ambiguity inures to the Petitioner's benefit, section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1997), this Court should find that under the prison releasee reoffender act the sentence for robbery with a firearm is 30 years. 5

⁵Moreover, applying the holding of **Burdick** that a separate statutory category of first degree felony punishable by life is not recognized in Florida law, this Court should likewise find that Petitioner was incorrectly sentenced to life in prison under the prison releasee reoffender act for committing a first degree felony.

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