IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL KNIGHT,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC00-1987

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

ANNE C. TOOLAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0770670

PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Michael Knight, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

The record on appeal consists of three volumes. References to Volume I, which contains the pleadings and order filed in this cause, shall by the letter "R." References to consecutively numbered Volumes II (trial transcript) and III (sentencing transcript), shall be by use of the letter "T" followed by the appropriate volume number. "IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering and underscoring is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State agrees with Petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal correctly affirmed the life sentence imposed in this case under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act (hereinafter Act) for the offense of armed robbery. Petitioner was convicted of a first degree felony punishable by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life. Section 775.082(8)(a)2.a of the Act unambiguously mandates the imposition of a life sentence for those prison releasee reoffenders who commit felonies punishable by life. The statute does not use the term "life felony" but rather uses the term "felony punishable by life," which includes both life felonies and first degree felonies punishable by a term of years not exceeding life. Petitioner's contrary construction of the Act is defeated by the plain meaning of the statute, would require the statute to be read so as to require an absurd result, is contrary to the meaning of the statute when read in para materia with other relevant parts, and would thwart the intent of the enacting legislature.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR BY SENTENCING PETITIONER TO A LIFE SENTENCE UNDER THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT FOR THE OFFENSE OF ARMED ROBBERY? (Restated)

Petitioner argues in this appeal that the trial court erred in imposing a life sentence under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act (Act) for the offense of armed robbery. Petitioner asserts that because he was convicted of a first degree felony punishable by life, and not a life felony, the maximum sentence he could have received under the Act is 30 years. The State respectfully disagrees. Section 775.082(8)(a)2.a., of the Act, provides for the imposition of a life sentence for a felony punishable by life. The statute does not use the term "life felony" but rather uses the term "felony punishable by life," which encompasses both life felonies and first degree felonies punishable by a term of years not exceeding life. Both are felonies "punishable by life." Petitioner was convicted of a first degree felony punishable by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life. life sentence imposed under section 775.082(8)(a)2.a. is correct.

Statement of the Issue

Effective January 1, 2001, Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210(b)(5) requires that arguments on each issue include the applicable appellate standard of review for the claimed trial court error. Statements of the issue should be concise, accurate, and scrupulously fair. They should incorporate applicable appellate

standards of review, including preservation or non-preservation of the issue and argument in the trial court, and be neutrally cast to present only the appellate question to be resolved. The State declines to accept Appellant's statement of the issue here because it does not meet these professional criteria. 1

Preservation

Prior to trial, defense filed a motion contending that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act was unconstitutional inapplicable to Petitioner because he was not charged with an enumerated offense. (R. 14-31). At the sentencing hearing, Petitioner raised a general challenge to the constitutionality of the Act. (TIII. 131-132). At no point below, however, did Petitioner assert the claim now raised in this appeal, to wit: that because he was convicted of a first degree felony punishable by life, and not a life felony, the maximum sentence he could have received under the Act is 30 years. The State submits, as previously urged upon the First District Court of Appeal in the instant case, that Petitioner failed to preserve this precise claim of error.

It is well-established that an appeal may not be taken from a judgment or order of a trial court unless a prejudicial error is alleged and is properly preserved, or if not properly preserved

¹Fla. R. App. P. 9.210(b)(5); <u>Kneale v. Kneale</u>, 67 So.2d 233 (Fla. 1953); U.S. Sup. Ct. R. 24(1)(a); Robert Stern, APPELLATE PRACTICE IN THE UNITED STATES (2d ed 1989); and Frank E. Cooper, Stating Issues in Appellate Practice, 49 A.B.A.J. 180 (1963).

would constitute fundamental error. \$924.051(3), Fla. Stat. (1997). An issue is properly preserved if the legal argument was timely raised before, and ruled on by, the trial court, and was sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the trial court of the the grounds therefor. Florida relief sought and Statute \$924.051(1)(b). "An appellate court must confine itself to a review of only those questions which were before the trial court and upon which a ruling adverse to the appealing party was made." State v. Barber, 301 So. 2d 7, 9 (Fla. 1974). See also, Larkins v. State, 655 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1995) (concluding that defendant failed to preserve issue on appeal by failing to make same objection in trial court); Archer v. State, 613 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1993) (stating that for issue preservation, claim of error must be presented to lower court with specific legal argument or grounds); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (stating that in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception or motion below); Sapp v. State, 411 So. 2d 363, 364 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (stating that appellant must bring to appellate court a record that clearly demonstrates trial court's explicit notice of precise grounds of objection).

In the case *sub judice*, not having presented below the claim of error now raised on appeal, Petitioner necessarily failed to obtain a ruling from the trial court thereon. As such, the issue raised in this appeal was unpreserved for purposes of appellate review absent fundamental error. The State submits that the alleged

sentencing error is not fundamental. The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act does not create an illegal sentence, nor does it change the statutory maximum penalty for the criminal offense committed. It simply requires the imposition of a mandatory minimum term for prison releasee reoffenders. Issues of statutory interpretation of the Act are not fundamental error and must be raised in the trial court in order to be preserved at the appellate level. See e.g., Miller v. State, 751 So. 2d 115 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (concluding that issue of interpretation of \$775.082(8) (a)1.q. could not be raised for the first time on appeal where it was not raised before the trial court and did not constitute fundamental error).

As such, because the claim was not preserved for appellate review and does not constitute fundamental error, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny review.²

Standard of Review

Issues of statutory interpretation are reviewed *de novo*. <u>United States v. Veal</u>, 153 F.3d 1233, 1245 (11th Cir. 1998); <u>Racetrac Petroleum</u>, <u>Inc. v. Delco Oil</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 721 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

²The First District Court of Appeal, in its written opinion in the instant case, disposed of the appeal on the merits and did not address the non-preservation issue raised by the State.

Argument

The Florida Legislature has created five categories of felonies: capital felony, life felony, felony of the first degree, felony of the second degree, and felony of the third degree. \$775.081(1), Fla. Stat. (1997). Section 775.082 sets forth the maximum statutory penalties which may be imposed for a felony offense:

- ► A capital felony shall be punished by death or life imprisonment without parole eligibility. §775.082(1).
- A life felony committed prior to October 1, 1983, may be punished by life imprisonment or by a term of imprisonment not less than 30 years. A life felony committed on or after October 1, 1983, may be punished by life imprisonment or by a term of imprisonment not exceeding 40 years. A life felony committed on or after July 1, 1995, may be punished by a term of imprisonment for life or by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment. §775.082(3)(a)1-3.
- A first degree felony may be punished by a term of imprisonment not exceeding 30 years or, when specifically provided by statute, by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment. §775.082(3)(b).
- ► A second degree felony may be punished by a term of imprisonment not exceeding 15 years. §775.082(3)(c).
- ► A third degree felony may be punished by a term of imprisonment not exceeding 5 years. §775.082(3)(d).

* *

In 1997, the Florida Legislature passed the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act in 1997. CH 97-239, LAWS OF FLORIDA. The 1997 version of the Act, codified as \$775.082(8), Florida Statutes, provides:

- (a)1 "Prison releasee reoffender" means any defendant who commits, or attempts to commit:
- a. Treason;
- b. Murder;
- c. Manslaughter;
- d. Sexual battery;
- e. Carjacking;
- f. Home-invasion robbery;
- q. Robbery;
- h. Arson;
- i. Kidnapping;
- j. Aggravated assault;
- k. Aggravated battery;
- 1. Aggravated stalking;
- m. Aircraft piracy;
- n. Unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb;
- o. Any felony that involves the use or threat of physical force or violence against an individual;
- p. Armed burglary;
- q. Burglary of an occupied structure or dwelling; or
- r. Any felony violation of s. 790.07, s. 800.04, s. 827.03, or s. 827.071;

within 3 years of being released from a state correctional facility operated by the Department of Corrections or a private vendor.

- 2. If the state attorney determines that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in subparagraph 1., the state attorney may seek to have the court sentence the defendant as a prison releasee reoffender. Upon proof from the state attorney that establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in this section, such defendant is not eligible for sentencing under the sentencing guidelines and must be sentenced as follows:
- a. For a felony punishable by life, by a term of imprisonment for life;
- b. For a felony of the first degree, by a term of imprisonment of 30 years;
- c. For a felony of the second degree, by a term of imprisonment of 15 years; and

d. For a felony of the third degree, by a term of imprisonment of 5 years.

* *

In the instant case, Petitioner was convicted, as charged, of armed robbery, a first degree felony punishable by life under section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1997). See State v. Evans, 693 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 1997); Dues v. State, 716 So. 2d 282 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998); Robinson v. State, 680 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). Contrast, robbery with a weapon, which is a felony of the first degree under \$812.13(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997). At the sentencing hearing, the State presented evidence to establish that Petitioner qualified under the Act as a prison releasee reoffender, namely that he committed the instant offense within three years of being released from prison. (TIII. 128-134). The trial judge found Petitioner to be a prison releasee reoffender and sentenced him to life imprisonment under the Act for the offense of armed robbery. (TIII. 133-134).

Petitioner argues in this appeal that the trial court erred in imposing a life sentence under the Act for the offense of armed robbery. Petitioner submits (1) that there is no specific sentencing provision under the Act for a conviction for a first degree felony punishable by a term of years not exceeding life, (2) that the term "first degree felony" encompasses first degree felonies punishable by life, and, therefore, under the sentencing provisions of the Act his sentence should have been 30 years, (3) that the Act is ambiguous in regard to first degree felonies

punishable by life as it separately provides that any offense "punishable by life" requires a life sentence while at the same time providing that a felony of the first degree requires a 30 year sentence, and (4) that where the Act presents two possibilities in that armed robbery is punishable by life but is also a felony of the first degree, under the rule of lenity his sentence must be limited to the lesser of the two, to wit: 30 years in prison.

Contrary to Petitioner's arguments, the terms of the Act clearly and unequivocally require the imposition of a life sentence for the offense of armed robbery committed by a prison releasee reoffender. Pursuant to \$775.082(8), offenders who fall within the scope of the Act are to be sentenced to the maximum period of incarceration for the applicable felony offenses as provided under \$775.082(1)-(3), as minimum mandatory sentences. Stated otherwise, the mandatory minimum term imposed under the Act is the maximum statutory penalty under \$775.082(1)-(3). Under this sentencing scheme, first degree felonies punishable by life, and all life felonies, are treated equally. Whereas both carry a statutory maximum penalty of life imprisonment, both are subject to the imposition of life imprisonment under the Act.

Petitioner is incorrect in stating that the Act does not contain a specific sentencing provision for a conviction for a first degree felony punishable by life. The Act clearly states the penalty: "For a felony punishable by life, by a term of imprisonment for life [.]" By using the language "punishable by life," instead of "life felony," the legislature made both life felonies and certain

first degree felonies, such as armed robbery with a firearm, punishable by life. Section 775.082(8)(a)2.a., thus, unambiguously includes both life felonies and first degree felonies punishable by life. Brown v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2753 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 8, 1999).

The rule of lenity, invoked by Petitioner, is the last recourse utilized when interpreting a statute; it only comes into play when the legislative intent cannot be determined. The rule is thus inapplicable where, as here, the language of the statute is clear. Statutes should be interpreted to implement the intent of the legislature, and to cure the evil the statute is designed to correct. See generally, Williams, supra. Jackson v. State, 662 So.2d 1369, 1371 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995): "legislative intent is the polestar by which the court[s] must be guided in statutory construction, even when at odds with the strict letter of the statute," (citing to State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820, 824 (Fla.1981), internal quotation marks deleted). "It is a basic tenet of statutory construction that statutes will not be interpreted so as to yield an absurd result." Williams v. State, 492 So. 2d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1986).

It is respectfully submitted that Petitioner's position before this Court expressly requires that the Act be interpreted to yield an absurd result. The clear intent of the legislature through this statute is to deter recently released felons from committing fresh crimes hard upon their release through enhanced penalties for such offenses during the relevant time frame. Petitioner's formulation would result in a lower, not a higher, penalty for eligible criminals who commit serious first degree felonies. Such a construct is especially disfavored when the relevant segment of the Act is read in para materia with section 775.082(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997): "For a felony of the first degree, by a term of imprisonment not exceeding 30 years or, when specifically provided for by statute, by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment." Section 812.13, Fla. Stat. (1997) provides:

- (1) "Robbery means the taking of money or other property which may be the subject of larceny from the person or custody of another, with intent to either permanently or temporarily deprive the person or the owner of the money or other property, when in the course of the taking there is the use of force, violence, assault, or putting in fear.
- (2) (a) If in the course of committing the robbery the offender carried a firearm or other deadly weapon, then the robbery is a felony of the first degree, punishable by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment or as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

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